Environmental Scan of Primary Care-Based Efforts To Reduce Readmissions

Prepared for:

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 5600 Fishers Lane Rockville, MD 20857 <u>www.ahrq.gov</u>

Contract No. HHSP233201500019I/HHSP23337002T (Accelerating Change and Transformations in Organizations and Networks III [ACTION III] task order)

Prepared by:

Michael Hochman, M.D., M.P.H.¹ Angel Bourgoin, Ph.D.² Sonali Saluja, M.D., M.P.H.¹ Rich Balaban, M.D.³ Jeffrey Greenwald, M.D., S.F.H.M.⁴ Ted Palen, M.D., Ph.D., M.S.P.H.⁵ Michelle Savuto² Jim Maxwell, Ph.D.²

¹ USC Gehr Family Center for Implementation Science
² John Snow, Inc.
³ Cambridge Health Alliance
⁴ Massachusetts General Hospital
⁵ Kaiser Permanente Colorado

Reviewed and Edited by:

Doreen Bonnett, M.S.W. Eileen M. Hogan, M.P.A. Deborah Perfetto, Pharm.D. Marjorie Shofer, B.S.N., M.B.A.

AHRQ Publication No. 18(20)-0055-EF March 2020





Paperwork Reduction Act. AHRQ received approval from the Office of Management and Budget (OMB), in accordance with 44 U.S.C. 3501-3521, for the information collection for this project - OMB Control No. 0935-0237.

Public Domain Notice. This product is in the public domain and may be used and reprinted without permission in the United States for noncommercial purposes, unless materials are clearly noted as copyrighted in the document. Citation of the source is appreciated.

No one may reproduce copyrighted materials without the permission of the copyright holders. Users outside the United States must get permission from AHRQ to reprint or translate this product. Anyone wanting to reproduce this product for sale must contact AHRQ for permission.

Suggested citation: Hochman M, Bourgoin A, Saluja S, et al. Environmental Scan of Primary Care-Based Efforts To Reduce Readmissions. (Prepared by John Snow, Inc., under Contract No. HHSP233201500019I/HHSP23337002T) Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; March 2019. AHRQ Publication No. 18(20)-0055-EF.

The authors of this scan are responsible for its content. Statements in the scan should not be construed as endorsement by the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality or the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

No investigators have any affiliations or financial involvement (e.g., employment, consultancies, honoraria, stock options, expert testimony, grants or patents received or pending, or royalties) that conflict with material presented in this report.

Table of Contents

Environmental Scan of Primary Care-Based Efforts To Reduce Readmissions	i
Disclaimer of Conflict of Interest	. 2
Funding Statement	. 2
Public Domain Notice	. 2
Executive Summary	. 1
Key Findings	
Future Considerations for Stakeholders	. 1
Introduction	. 2
Methods	. 4
Results	. 4
Challenges to Care Coordination	. 6
Effectiveness of the Primary Care Visit	. 8
Peer-Reviewed Literature	
Summary	
Individual Care Coordination Interventions	. 9
Primary Care Automated Alerts When Patients are Hospitalized	. 9
Early Identification of Post-discharge Complications	12
Medication Management	15
Bundled Care Coordination Interventions	18
Interventions Implemented in Large Academic Medical Centers	19
Interventions in Integrated Health Care Systems	22
Care Transitions Programs in Independent Primary Care Practices	24
Readmission Reduction Efforts Led by Payers	
The Patient-Centered Medical Home and Care Coordination	30
Integrating Hospital- and Primary Care-Based Efforts	30
Tools and Resources	32
Discussion	34
Conclusions	36
References	39

Executive Summary

Research from the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ) Healthcare Cost and Utilization Project (HCUP) indicates high rates of readmissions in the Medicare population and among the adult, non-obstetric Medicaid population.¹ These high rates of readmissions are associated with problems such as prescribing errors and misdiagnoses of conditions in the hospital and ambulatory care settings.² Many efforts to reduce readmissions have focused on the hospital setting and staff using evidence-based programs, such as AHRQ's RED (Re-Engineered Discharge) toolkit,³ the Care Transitions Intervention,⁴ and *The Hospital Guide to Reducing Medicaid Readmissions*.⁵

The evidence-base for the primary care setting on how to reduce readmissions and improve patient safety is comparatively lacking. This gap in the literature is becoming more pronounced as primary care is increasingly called to serve as the key integrator across the health care system as part of payment and delivery system reforms.

To address this gap, AHRQ funded <u>research</u> on what is currently known about reducing readmissions from the primary care perspective. This environmental scan examines what is currently known about reducing readmissions from the primary care perspective by analyzing the findings of 42 peer-reviewed articles and 30 items from the gray literature.

Key Findings

- The primary care-based literature on care transition programs is less developed than the hospital-based literature. In addition, the diversity of primary care settings makes the implementation and impact of interventions vary, so context is essential to understanding this literature.
- Multi-component interventions that addressed multiple challenges of patients and providers tended to be more effective than individual interventions. Care transition programs in the context of more general primary care transformation efforts, such as the patient-centered medical home, also tended to be more effective.
- Much of the research was conducted in large academic health centers, which may not be generalizable to independent primary care practices.

Future Considerations for Stakeholders

• Primary care clinicians and health system leaders: The literature demonstrates some effective approaches in which clinics played a significant role in reducing readmissions; some tools and resources are shared in Table 9. Collaborating with hospitals to define care coordination responsibilities will help align care transition programs in both settings and reduce redundancy.

- *Policymakers*: Many care transition programs identified in this scan were funded by grants or other temporary funding mechanisms. Financial arrangements that align primary care and hospital incentives, such as shared savings programs and managed care contracts, may facilitate integration and sustainable improvements.
- Researchers: Further research is needed on primary care-based care transition interventions, especially in independent primary care settings. Attention should also be paid to developing low-cost models that build on existing infrastructure, diversity of primary care settings, and interdependencies of care coordination activities both in and out of the primary care setting.

Introduction

Each year in the United States more than 35 million patients are discharged from the hospital.⁶ The 30-day period immediately after hospital discharge has proven to be a particularly vulnerable time for patients. In the Medicare fee-for-service population, approximately 18 percent of discharged patients will be readmitted to a hospital facility within 30 days,⁷ and among the adult Medicaid population the rate is even higher.^{8, 9} Readmissions have profound consequences, costing Medicare tens of billions of dollars and leading to delays in clinical recovery.¹⁰

Because the peri-discharge period is fraught with risks, considerable attention has been focused on improving care coordination during this high-risk time. To date, the primary focus has centered on hospital-based interventions to improve care for discharging patients. High-quality controlled studies have demonstrated the benefits of specific protocols hospitals can implement in reducing readmission rates and improving patient outcomes, although not all these programs have been successful.¹¹ The most successful of these programs have been bundled interventions that involve both the pre-discharge and post-discharge periods and offer "bridging" services to improve communication between the inpatient and outpatient settings.¹²

With widespread uptake of these programs by hospitals nationwide—in part driven by penalties to hospitals with high readmission rates through the Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program¹³—hospital readmission rates are declining but still high.^{14, 15} These findings are encouraging but underscore the opportunity for further progress. Despite the concerted national efforts resulting from the Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program, an estimated 27 percent of hospital readmissions may still be avoidable.^{16,17}

It is unclear why care transition efforts to date have not been able to more substantially affect readmission rates. One reason, however, may be that much of the focus of care transition efforts has centered on hospital-based programs. Yet hospital providers may only have a limited ability to affect what occurs once the patient has left the hospital. Hospitals will often schedule a post-discharge follow-up appointment with the patient's primary care provider, but much less is known about the role of primary care clinics in the care transition process. Primary care providers generally resume care for patients after

discharge¹⁸ and providers and staff often have longstanding, trusted relationships with their patients.¹⁹ Increasingly, primary care clinics are also assuming the role of care integrators as part of patient-centered medical home (PCMH), accountable care organization (ACO), and other team-based approaches to improving care.²⁰ Thus, it seems intuitive that primary care clinics would play a critical role in improving care transitions.

The evidence-base for the primary care setting on how to reduce readmissions and improve patient safety is comparatively lacking. To address this gap, AHRQ funded research on what is currently known about reducing readmissions from the primary care perspective. The environmental scan examines what is currently known about reducing readmissions from the primary care perspective with a focus on evidence of successful practices.

It can be difficult to delineate the most effective role of primary care in care transitions as patients require varied services – such as medication reconciliation, transportation assistance—at various times ranging from hospitalization to health management at home. The characteristics of different primary care practices—such as their infrastructure, staffing, and payment model—can greatly affect the extent to which they can support effective care transitions. Primary care may play a small to large role in care transition interventions, and the complexity of these interventions can vary greatly depending on circumstances in their health system environment and relations with other health system members.

Further complicating the concept of what a primary care-based transitional care intervention may be is that interventions may be initiated, delivered, or staffed by different parties. For instance, a health plan may staff care navigators in a primary care practice for complex care patients, and these care navigators may visit the patients in the hospital if they are admitted. Alternatively, a hospital may staff a care navigator from a local primary care practice as a liaison for hospitalized complex care patients as part of a warm handoff. In both cases, a care navigator meets the patient face to face to assist in the care transition, but different people may play the roles in different settings.

This environmental scan offers a targeted review of transitional care interventions in which primary care plays a significant role. These care transition programs are labeled as primary care-based with the recognition of the complexities of this term as described above. Transitional care interventions that link to primary care as a passive recipient have been excluded from this review. Given the vast array of transitional care interventions in health care and the different people involved, there are limitations to the search terminology used for this scan. The absence of articles that use different language, such as "primary care redesign" or "patient centered medical home and care coordination," reflects methodological limitations rather than articles' lack of relevance.

First, the environmental scan examines the barriers and challenges patients face in receiving appropriate and timely care from their primary care providers after discharge. Next, there is a summary of different primary care-based strategies aimed at reducing readmissions in different settings. Finally, it concludes with considerations for primary care

clinics hoping to improve care for their patients at the time of hospital discharge, suggests directions for future investigation, and discusses implications for policymakers.

<u>Methods</u>

A search for the relevant medical literature was conducted using the PubMed, Ovid, and Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL) databases for the terms *primary care* and *patient centered medical home* in combination with each of the terms *readmission*, *care transition*, and *hospital discharge*. The searches were limited to English-language articles published since 2006 through November 2016.

This 10-year span was selected to capture articles from the health reform discussion before passage of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA), which was characterized by more piecemeal approaches to improve care transitions. The debate and then the passage of the ACA spurred a large increase in efforts to reduce avoidable readmissions, including Medicare penalties. The timeframe of this search therefore should encompass publications on care coordination improvement efforts in the post-ACA environment and a few years preceding it.

Reviewers excluded articles that were duplicates, had an international focus, focused solely on the pediatric population, did not focus on primary care, and were opinion articles. This resulted in 42 articles met the inclusion criteria for this review. The articles were sorted by thematic similarity based on the abstracts, and then reviewers refined the categorization based on a full reading of the articles. The data were abstracted using a template to collect the following key elements from the articles: keywords, type of study, problems/barriers identified, intervention/strategy used/recommended, providers involved, study population and number of subjects, research setting, methods, results, and AHRQ involvement.

Given the still emergent literature on ambulatory programs aimed at reducing readmissions, this environmental scan also includes a brief review of "gray literature" to find information on efforts that may not be found in peer-reviewed literature. A search was conducted for the same set of keywords on a set of Web sites: ahrq.gov, innovations.ahrq.gov, innovations.cms.gov, google.com, and rwjf.org. The first 50 search results on these Web sites were examined for relevance to this review. The gray literature items were then categorized based on similarity of content—emerging practices versus tool—and relation to the peer-reviewed literature.

<u>Results</u>

The peer-reviewed literature search yielded: 535 articles. The authors reviewed 42 articles on primary care and readmissions and related terms that met the inclusion criteria with about one-third of these articles focused on describing the different problems and challenges in care coordination. Four articles examined the efficacy of primary care follow-up visits on reducing readmissions.

The remaining 23 articles described the results of different types of interventions. The interventions reviewed were grouped into several categories:

- Primary care automated alerts when patients are hospitalized,
- Early identification of post-discharge complications,
- Medication management, and
- Bundled care coordination interventions.

Most of these articles discussed bundled care coordination interventions and were further organized based on similarities. Fifteen links in the gray literature met the same inclusion criteria as the peer-reviewed literature. The reviewers then categorized the gray literature content according to the classification developed for the peer-reviewed articles.

The results for the literature review are organized as follows:

- Challenges to care coordination;
- Effectiveness of the primary care visit;
- Individual care coordination interventions:
 - o Primary care automated alert when patients are hospitalized;
 - o Early identification of post-discharge complications; and
 - Medication management.
- Bundled care coordination interventions:

Interventions implemented in large academic medical centers;

• Care transition programs in independent primary care practices; and

- Readmission reduction efforts led by payers.
- The patient-centered medical home and care coordination; and
- Integrating hospital and primary care-based efforts.

Tables are included in the results to summarize the challenges to care coordination, tools and resources found, and the key information from intervention studies. Not all of the topics listed had relevant gray literature content; only topics with relevant gray literature have a specific subsection that reviews gray literature content.

Challenges to Care Coordination

Fourteen peer-reviewed articles had a primary focus of describing the barriers to effective care transitions from the hospital to the primary care setting. The studies used a variety of methods—such as questionnaires, interviews, focus groups, and literature reviews—to examine barriers from the provider and patient perspectives.

Four studies explored care coordination challenges providers perceive, ^{21,22, 23,24} and two studies did so from the patient perspective.^{25,26} Four studies examined the challenges of coordinating between providers, specifically the discharge summary, handoffs, and perceived capabilities of specialists and primary care providers.^{27,28,29,18,30} Several studies examined specific issues related to care coordination difficulties; namely, two studies focused on the types and frequency of medication-related issues,^{31,32} and two studies described providers' perceptions of health information technology (HIT).^{33,26} The studies differed in settings in which they were conducted, populations studied – such as Medicare and Medicaid—and stage in the care transition process.

Table 1 provides a summary of barriers in four categories: system, organizational, provider, and patient. Nearly all the articles described system- level barriers such as fragmentation of the care system, financial disincentives, and regulatory barriers that prevented more effective coordination between inpatient and primary care providers during the care transition process. Several studies documented a lack of health insurance coverage for transportation to follow up appointments or for needed medications.

Related barriers exist at the organizational and provider levels. Hospitals and primary care practices often lack standardized processes or workflows to manage the care transition process, including:

- Timely transfer of discharge summary,
- Follow-up phone calls,
- Patient education and engagement strategies, and
- Referral and follow-up to social services to address nonmedical needs.

One particular challenge identified by Armor was the high rate of adverse drug events and lack of systematic medication reconciliation after hospital discharge.³¹ Other studies also noted that medication reconciliation was a key priority for primary care after hospital discharge. These organizational issues at the hospital and primary care levels are reflected in the barriers reported by individual primary care providers (PCPs), such as:

- Lack of time,
- Competing priorities,

- Lack of information on hospitalizations and timely discharge summaries, and
- Medication discrepancies.

In addition, some PCPs reported "feeling undervalued when hospitalists made medication changes without involving PCPs." ²⁶

One important limitation of the literature is that very few studies examine the perspective of providers other than hospitalists and PCPs, despite the fact that numerous other providers play increasingly important roles; these include nurses, pharmacists and pharmacy technicians, mental health providers, social workers, and community health workers.

System	 Lack of financial incentives and payments for care coordination; Regulatory barriers to information sharing; and Lack of reimbursement for nonmedical services.
Organizational	 Lack of ability of electronic health records to communicate; Lack of standardized process for improving care transitions; Inadequate financial resources; Inadequate workforce for care coordination such as care coordinators; Insufficient communication across settings; and Inadequate coordination with PCMH practices.
Provider	 Lack of time and competing priorities; Lack of information on hospital experience and treatment; Medication discrepancies; Lack of communication between inpatient and outpatient providers; and Inadequate communication with providers from other setting such as home care, community mental health, and aging services.
Patient	 Medication problems or errors; Hospital complications; Difficulty reconciling follow-up care with patients' life priorities; Difficulty scheduling follow-up appointments with PCP and tests; Confusion regarding how to translate knowledge into health- promoting actions at home; Lack of support to address nonmedical needs such as nutrition, housing, transportation, and safety; Financial barriers to receiving follow up care; and Lack of participation of caregivers in discharge planning and follow up care.

Table 1. Challenges to Care Coordination Described in the Literature

In the studies reviewed for the scan, patients expressed some similar concerns about care transitions and patient safety but described them in different terms and had different priorities than primary care providers. In addition, patients experienced: medication problems and adverse events, issues with follow-up appointments or tests, difficulty

making recommended lifestyle changes, inattention to nonmedical needs, and hospital complications.25

In one study, patients were twice as likely to report a problem if their PCP was unaware of their hospitalization. In contrast, an in-depth anthropological study conducted at Kaiser found other important patient concerns that were not identified in other studies. These included making caregivers part of every step of the transition process, feeling connected to and trusting providers, and transitioning from illness-defined experience to "normal" life.26

Nearly all the studies described system-level barriers and regulatory obstacles that prevented more effective coordination. This scan also suggests that the nature and level of organizational barriers appears related to whether the primary care clinics are part of larger more organizationally and financially integrated systems. Studies in more integrated systems reported fewer and less severe problems. In addition, it is not well characterized in the literature is the effect of different patient populations on the challenges to care coordination. Another important gap in the literature is the relative lack of studies documenting patient and family care perspectives; this is a critical issue given the emerging evidence that patients and their families have different priorities and use different language to describe care transitions. The articles describing challenges to care coordination tend to share many similar findings. However, there is more variation among primary care-initiated interventions as a means to address these challenges.

Effectiveness of the Primary Care Visit

For primary care to play a role in reducing readmissions, patients need to see their primary care doctor in a timely follow-up visit after hospital discharge. In this review, three observational studies assessed the effect of a timely follow-up visit, without the benefit of other care enhancements, on 30-day readmissions. These articles arrived at divergent conclusions, perhaps due to their differing methods, measures, and settings.

Peer-Reviewed Literature

In the first article, Field found that an office visit with a PCP or specialist within seven days of hospital discharge yielded no protective effect on 30-day rehospitalizations among patients 65 and older in a large multispecialty group practice.³⁴ In contrast, Misky found that among a small convenience sample of patients discharged from an internal medicine ward , patients who lacked an office visit with a PCP or specialist within four weeks were 10 times more likely to be readmitted within 30 days for the same condition than patients who had a timely follow-up visit.³⁵

Finally, Lin conducted a retrospective analysis of a nationally representative sample of elderly, community-dwelling participants in the traditional fee-for-service program using Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey data. In this study, physician follow-up—irrespective of timing—was significantly negatively associated with 90-day readmissions. In addition, having a follow-up visit was associated with approximately \$10,000 lower annual health expenditures.³⁶

Summary

Although there is much potential discussed with regard to the role of primary care in reducing readmissions, the evidence linking the timely follow-up visit on its own to readmission reduction seems mixed. These studies differed in their patient populations, operationalization of the follow-up visit, and definition of the readmission outcome. In addition, there were differences in patient medical condition, education and support. Finally, closer consideration of particular primary care-based care coordination activities is warranted to better understand the mechanisms through which primary care may reduce readmissions.

Individual Care Coordination Interventions

The remaining studies in this scan examine the impact of different primary care-based interventions on reducing readmissions. The following sections on primary care automated alerts, early identification of post-discharge complications, medication management, and bundled care coordination interventions describe the literature on other primary care-based readmission reduction efforts.

Primary Care Automated Alerts When Patients are Hospitalized

The awareness of PCPs' on their patients' hospitalization varies, with some studies showing roughly 20 to 30 percent of PCPs being unaware of their patient being hospitalized.^{25, 30} Timely notification of hospitalization is important so that PCPs have a chance to communicate with hospital teams and ensure that care coordination can occur smoothly. The reliability of this notification in terms of how often it occurs, from which hospitals and to which primary care staff members, what information the notification includes, and the extent to which it integrates with care coordination activities has implications for the quality of patient care. The prevalence of automated alerts varies widely by primary care setting.

Peer-Reviewed Literature

In Table 2, two articles tested the impact of integrated IT systems that notified primary care staff when their patients were hospitalized. Gurwitz conducted a randomized controlled trial that used IT to enhance the information available to the PCP at follow up visits. They used automated alerts to PCPs and staff when older adults were discharged from the hospital.³⁷

This electronic health record (EHR)-based transitional care intervention also provided:

- Information about drugs added during the inpatient stay,
- Warnings about drug-drug interactions,
- Recommendations for dosage changes and laboratory monitoring of high-risk medications, and
- Alerts to the PCP's support staff to schedule a post-hospitalization office visit.

The intervention did not have an impact on timeliness of PCP office follow-up visits or readmissions. The authors note that the success of the system requires a high level of responsibility and accountability on the part of the PCP and staff and that other factors such as too many alerts competing for attention can limit the effectiveness of EHR-based interventions.

In the second article by Moran, four prototype programs were described in which automated notification of primary care staff was used to ensure appropriate follow-up and coordination of care.³⁸ These automated systems used a secure online Web site or an encrypted email notification system to alert clinicians and practice staff to hospital registration of the patient. In each program, notification triggered a nurse-directed clinical assessment and care coordination plan and helped ensure timely primary care follow-up.

Although some of the programs demonstrated reduced hospitalizations, no data were shared regarding readmission rates. Still, the authors conclude that automating the notification of PCPs and practice nurses is a potent and vital tool to improve care coordination, and primary care follow-up is an essential tool for the PCMH model. The authors note that the effectiveness of automatic notification programs would depend on the accuracy of the data, ability to assign a PCP, availability of resources to coordinate care, and effectiveness of program interventions.

Table 2. Primary Care Notifications When Patients Are Hospitalized

Article	Setting	Intervention	Outcomes
Gurwitz J, Field T, Ogarek J, et al. An electronic health record-based intervention to increase follow-up office visits and decrease rehospitalization in older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc 2014;62(5):865-71.*	 Large multidisciplinary group practice Patients at least 65 years old discharged from hospital to home Intervention group N=1,870 and control group N=1,791 	 Study design: randomized controlled trial. The EHR-based transitional care intervention provided: Notification of patient discharge; Information electronically about drugs added during the inpatient stay; Warnings about drug–drug interactions; Recommendations for dosage changes and laboratory monitoring of high-risk medications; and Alerts to the primary care provider's support staff to schedule a post hospitalization office visit. 	No significant impact on the timeliness of primary care provider office follow up visits or 30-day readmissions.
Moran W, Davis K, Moran T, et al. Where are my patients? It is time to automate notification of hospital use to primary care practices. South Med J 2012;105(1):18-23.	 Four clinical programs in North and South Carolina targeting asthma, Medicaid patients, complex older patients, and preterm delivery prevention Patients enrolled in these programs; N=3,271 to 44,879 	 Study design: case studies. The care coordination software Disease Management Network (DMCN) housed a database that linked all patients to at least one primary care provider; hospital admission- discharge transfer (ADT) transactions sent to the DMCN automatically sent push notifications to primary care providers. All of the programs initiated a care coordination telephone call in response to emergency department visits and hospitalizations within 24 hours when possible to: assess whether the patient was clinically stable, needed help acquiring prescribed medications, or needed assistance setting an appointment with his or her primary care provider 	Hospitalizations were reduced in asthma and preterm delivery programs, but readmission rates are not shared in this paper

* This study was funded by AHRQ.

Summary

With only two studies identified in the literature on the effectiveness of automated alerts, it is not possible to draw conclusions about how they may affect readmission rates. The studies identified many factors that make automated alerts difficult to implement and integrate into care, such as the variability in the accuracy of data and staff accountability in using these alerts.

In addition, it is unknown what other care coordination-related activities were concurrent with these studies, so it may be difficult to isolate the utility of automated alerts alone. It is also unknown to what extent the findings here would apply to different types of primary care practice settings. More research is required to understand the effectiveness of automated alerts in different contexts such as different primary care settings, bundled with various primary care-based readmission reduction efforts, and ways alerts are integrated into practice.

Early Identification of Post-discharge Complications

Some primary care efforts to reduce readmissions have focused on early recognition of medical problems in patients after they have been discharged from the hospital. The studies that attempted to identify early discharge complications in the outpatient setting all included post-discharge phone calls as their primary intervention. There were three peer-reviewed studies, including one review article, where the primary aim was to identify post-discharge complications in patients; see Table 3. A variety of outcomes were measured including the number of post-discharge problems identified, primary care follow-up rates, and readmission rates.

Peer-Reviewed Literature

In the first study, Crocker, conducted a systematic review of effects of primary care-based telephone follow-up interventions on post-discharge emergency department (ED) visits, hospital readmissions, and primary care engagement.³⁹ Three controlled studies were identified in this review; two occurred in community teaching hospitals and one was at a Veterans Affairs medical center. In all three studies, the phone calls were made by nurses or nurse care managers who conducted a needs assessment and medication review and confirmed or scheduled follow up appointments after discharge. Two of the interventions included assessing barriers to keeping appointments.

None of the studies reported a statistically significant impact of the telephone intervention on hospital readmission rates and the two that examined ED utilization did not show an impact either. However, all three studies reported improved post-discharge primary care contact. The review also noted that only one of the studies provided the telephone followup script, making it difficult to compare content and determine the pertinent components of the follow-up calls.

The two other articles identified in this environmental scan were published after the systematic review was conducted. A study by Tang focused on conducting a descriptive study measuring symptoms, follow-up appointment attendance, and 30-day readmission among patients receiving post-discharge phone calls from RNs embedded in a primary care practice.⁴⁰ The nurses were trained in problem-solving techniques to address issues that could arise and appropriate triage, and attempted to contact patients within 72 hours of discharge. In addition, they used structured scripts for the calls to ask about worsening symptoms and home care needs. Medication reconciliation was also done unless this was perceived to be too complex, in which case it was conducted in person.

At least one problem was noted in 76 percent of completed calls. The number of completed follow-up appointments were higher among patients who received fully scripted calls or messages compared with unreachable patients. However, readmission rates were not significantly different for the groups. Also, there was no detected difference in patient characteristics between the patient groups or explanations for why some patients were

unreachable. It is possible that patients who were unreachable were able to leave their homes since they were healthier which may have mitigated the results of the study.

Table 3. Early Identification of Post-discharge Complications

Article	Setting	Intervention	Outcomes
Crocker J, Crocker J, Greenwald J. Telephone follow-up as a primary care intervention for post- discharge outcomes improvement: a systematic review. Am J Med 2012;125(9):915-21.	 Adult primary care settings, including community teaching hospitals and a Veterans Affairs medical center, from three studies (systematic review) N=a combined 1,765 patients over three studies 	 Study design: systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Primary care- based telephone follow-ups administered by RN, generally within 1 week of discharge. Calls included needs assessment, education, symptomatic review and follow-up, medication review, and appointment confirmation. 	 None of the studies demonstrated evidence of reduced admissions or emergency department visits. All three studies reported improved post-discharge primary care contact as a result of telephone follow-up.
Tang N, Fujimoto J, Karliner L. Evaluation of a primary care- based post-discharge phone call program: keeping the primary care practice at the center of post- hospitalization care transition. J Gen Intern Med 2014;29(11):1513-8.	 Academic medical center in California N=790 adults being discharged who had a primary care provider at that same medical Center 	 Study design: quality improvement. Embedded RNs in a primary care practice called patients within 72 hours of hospital discharge. Calls were scripted to ask about worsening symptoms and home care needs and to perform medication reconciliation. 	 RNs were able to reach more than 90% of discharged patients. About three-quarters (76%) of RN calls identified at least one issue, 47% of which included medication issues and 25% of which included new symptoms. Completed follow-up appointments were higher among patients who received full calls and messages, compared with patients who could not be reached (60.1% and 58.5% vs. 38.5%, p<0.004) No significant difference in readmission rates
Graham J, Tomcavage J, Salek D, et al. Post- discharge monitoring using interactive voice response system reduces 30-day readmission rates in a case-managed Medicare population. Med Care 2012;50(1):50-	 A physician-led health care system in Pennsylvania. Participants included Medicare Advantage members who had at least one hospital admission in 2009, were case managed, and were considered high-risk. intervention group N=875 and control 	 Study design: quasi-experimental. All study participants received case management, but intervention patients were supported by a tele monitoring interactive voice response (IVR) support system, which automated 4 weekly calls in 30 days that alerted case managers via EHR if patients needed further follow-up. 	• The use of IVR with case management was associated with a 44% reduction in 30-day readmissions in the study cohort (p=0.0004).

In the last article by Graham, a pre-post quasi-experimental design to examine the effects of a post-discharge interactive voice response (IVR) tele-monitoring system.⁴¹ The intervention included weekly automated phone calls for four weeks that alerted case managers in real time via the EHR records if patients needed further follow-up based on their responses. The IVR system would automatically retry phone calls at set intervals if there was no response, case managers enrolled select patients into the IVR group who were Medicare Advantage patients from an active case management program at a PCMH clinic and were deemed to be at high risk for readmissions. Completed IVR call rates were not reported.

Thirty-day readmission rates were compared for members who did and did not experience the automated calls before and after the program was implemented. Compared with the control group, who just had case management, there was a 44 percent reduction in 30-day readmissions in the intervention group.

Summary

All the studies identified that address post-discharge complications used post-discharge telephone calls—either automated or made by nurses or care managers. These interventions included: medication reviews or reconciliations, needs assessment, and evaluation for follow-up appointment; however, little information was provided on the details of the call scripts.

Most of the studies demonstrated no impact on readmission or emergency room visits. This is in keeping with the findings of another systematic review of hospital-based telephone follow-up interventions, which generally found no statistically significant differences between telephone follow-up and control groups.⁴²

The only study showing a decrease in readmissions was unique in that it used an automated voice recognition system in addition to a care manager and repeated calls were made to patients as opposed to a single call. However, the studies demonstrated other outcomes important to patient care—most notably identification of needs and improved primary care follow-up.

Efforts to identify post-discharge complications early in the primary care setting could benefit from further research on the quantity, frequency, method—phone call versus automated call versus face-to-face or home visit, and content of interventions most likely to prevent readmissions. Future studies on telephone follow-up should report the proportion of patients they were able to reach in intervention groups, as the effects from the reviewed studies may have been minimized due to inability to reach some patients.

While there may be a modest benefit on readmissions and other patient-centered outcomes in attempting to identify post-discharge complications via telephone interventions, this method is likely to be most effective in an integrated system that includes other elements of care redesign.

Medication Management

Evidence suggests that adverse events related to medications are a significant problem in patients discharged from the hospital⁴³ and that patients receive inadequate assistance with managing their medications in the post-discharge setting.⁴⁴ The period after discharge for patients is a critical time when changes in medications, adverse reactions, medication availability, patient education, and financial barriers can be easily overlooked. Furthermore, addressing these issues can be challenging for primary care providers who cite barriers such as competing interests and inadequate discharge information.⁴⁵

Peer-Reviewed Literature

Three peer-reviewed articles described studies that specifically aimed to address medication management in the primary care setting after hospital discharge; see Table 4. In all three studies, the intervention involved either phone calls or face-to-face visits with clinical pharmacists. While other studies involving nursing interventions have included medication reconciliation, these studies also included non-medication-related post-discharge questions. In addition, the medication reconciliation were not consistently carried out during every post-discharge patient interaction. Given that medication management was not the primary focus of those studies, they were not included in this section.

Articles	Setting	Intervention	Outcomes
Tedesco G, McConaha J, Skomo M, et al. A pharmacist's impact on 30-day readmission rates when compared to the current standard of care within a patient- centered medical home: a pilot study. J Pharm Pract 2016 Aug;29(4):368-73; Epub 2015 Jan 28.	 Two large primary care physician practices in Pennsylvania. Patients with Medicare discharged from a select hospital. Intervention group: N=34 patients at one site; control group: N=43 patients at another site. 	 Study design: nonrandomized controlled trial. Pharmacist telephoned patients after hospital discharge to perform medication reconciliation, answer questions, and attempt to schedule an in-person follow-up appointment. Additional face-to-face visits occurred for 16 of the 34 intervention patients. Pharmacists had access to discharge hospital electronic medical record (EMR). 	 No significant difference in 30-day readmission rates between the control and intervention groups (26.7% vs. 14.7%; p=0.27). Near significant decrease in readmission rates for patients who interacted with the pharmacist face to face versus only via telephone (16% vs. 27.8%; p=0.05).

Table 4. Medication Management

Articles	Setting	Intervention	Outcomes
Kilcup M, Schultz D, Carlson J, et al. Post- discharge pharmacist medication reconciliation: impact on readmission rates and financial savings. J Am Pharm Assoc 2013;53(1):784.	 Nonprofit integrated group health plan practices with a PCMH design in Washington State. Patients identified as high risk for readmission. Intervention group: N=243 patients at clinic sites offering clinical pharmacist assessments; control group: N=251 patients at clinic sites not offering clinical pharmacists. 	 Study design: nonrandomized controlled trial. All patients received post-discharge calls from nurses to screen for red flags and review follow up plans. The intervention group received calls from pharmacists who conducted a medication therapy assessment and discussed any changes with the patient. Information was sent to the primary care provider via the EMR. Pharmacists also had access to patient's discharge summaries and current outpatient medication lists. 	 Eighty percent of patients in the intervention group had at least one medication discrepancy on discharge. The intervention group had decreased readmission rates at 7 days (0.8% vs. 4%, p= 0.01) and 14 days (5% vs. 9%, p= 0.04), but not at 30 days (12% vs14%; p= 0.29). Financial savings per 100 patients who received medication reconciliation was ~\$35,000.
Smith M, Giuliano M, Starkowski M. In Connecticut: improving patient medication management in primary care. Health Aff 2011;30(4):646- 54.	 Four federally qualified health centers in Connecticut. Patients with Medicaid with one or more chronic conditions and taking three or more medications. Intervention group N=88 patients and control group=0. 	 Study design: pre-post health care-cost analysis. At these appointments, pharmacists identified drug therapy problems and worked to resolve these problems with the retail pharmacist and prescribers. Pharmacists had access to the outpatient EMR Patients were eligible for up to six appointments with a pharmacist at monthly intervals in their primary care office; average of 4.6 encounters per patient over 11 months 	 Pharmacists identified an average of 10.4 drug therapy problems per patient and resolved 80% of them. In the 12 months before the intervention, total health care costs—including readmissions, all medical, hospital, pharmacy, and ED expenses—were \$574,817 compared with an extrapolated annual cost of \$434,465 during the intervention, an annual savings of \$1,123 per patient on medication claims and \$472 on acute care expense

The most recent study by Tedesco was a small, nonrandomized controlled trial examining readmissions in patients undergoing a phone and then face-to-face encounter with a pharmacist.⁴⁶ Pharmacists attempted to contact patients with Medicare within 3 days of their discharge via phone to perform medication reconciliation, which included reinforcing hospital instructions, ensuring patients understood how to take and obtain all their medications, and stressing the importance of continuing their medications. Pharmacists then attempted to schedule the patients for a face-to-face visit—usually just prior to their primary care follow-up—where similar medication issues were addressed. Thirty-day readmission rates were compared with a control group of demographically similar patients with Medicare at a different sit

There was no difference in the percentage of patients readmitted in 30 days between the control and intervention groups. However, patients who had an additional in-person meeting with the pharmacist had near statistically significant lower readmissions rates than those who only completed a call with the pharmacist which is notable given the small sample sizes.

Kilcup conducted a similar study at an integrated group health plan's practices with a PCMH design, and it was a larger, nonrandomized controlled analysis measuring the effects of a post-discharge pharmacist phone encounter on readmission rates.⁴⁷ In this study, nurses made post-discharge calls to patients who were determined to be at a higher risk for readmission in both the intervention and control group. During the calls, nurses screened patients for red flags, reviewed follow-up plans, and answered any questions; this call did not include a comprehensive medication review.

Patients in the intervention group based on their clinic site received an additional call from clinical pharmacists who conducted a detailed medication reconciliation and assessment; counseled patients on the purpose of their medications, common safety concerns, and how to take each medication; and communicated their findings to the primary care provider. Pharmacists reviewed and compared the patient's discharge summary with the patient's current outpatient medication list prior to their phone call. Patients who received a pharmacist intervention had statistically decreased readmission rates at 7 and 14 days, but not at 30 days post-discharge. Using readmission rates at 14 days, the authors calculated a net savings of \$355 per patient, which included pharmacist costs of \$45 per reconciliation.

The last study by Smith was a pre-post analysis examining the cost savings of recurrent pharmacist encounters for patients in four federally qualified health centers.⁴⁸ Notably, the intervention in this study was not specifically for the post-discharge period. A convenience sample of chronically ill patients with Medicaid was eligible for up to six appointments with a pharmacist at monthly intervals in their primary care office.

Pharmacists conducted a medical chart review before the appointment – for which they were paid—and then followed a stepwise approach at the appointment. They identified drug therapy problems, including inappropriate medications, adverse reactions, difficulty adhering to treatments, and financial barriers, and worked to resolve these problems with the retail pharmacist and prescribers. Using Medicaid claims data from the year before and during the intervention, and accounting for \$2-3 per minute for pharmacist's time, the authors determined a net savings of \$1,123 per patient in medication claims and \$472 per patient in medical, hospital, and emergency department expenses, which included readmissions.

Gray Literature

A search for gray literature revealed a single pre-post analysis examining telemedicine visits by pharmacists for high-risk patients as well as recently discharged patients at safety net clinics. Patients had one or more clinic appointments where they communicated with pharmacists via video regarding medication issues. Pharmacists and patients worked together to decide on follow-up visits, which were occasionally over the phone.

A pre-post analysis of more than 6,000 patients revealed significant improvements compared with the control group: a nearly 40 percent decrease in ED visits and a 23 percent decline in hospitalizations 12 months after enrollment in the program.⁴⁹

Summary

There is mixed peer-reviewed evidence to support the use of outpatient medication management; however, with the inclusion of the gray literature, the evidence for reducing readmissions through pharmacist-led interventions seems to be stronger. These studies had various limitations, including that two were small and none was a randomized controlled trial. Only the Smith study, specifically noted requiring pharmacists to have patient care experience and described a stepwise approach to the patient intervention while the remaining studies simply listed the medication-related issues the pharmacists addressed.

One common theme in these studies is that all the pharmacists seemed to have ready access to patients' electronic medical records. In the two studies that demonstrated the most pronounced decrease in readmissions or cost savings, patients had multiple face-to-face interactions with pharmacists as opposed to just one or two. These two studies were also conducted in safety net patient populations and included patients deemed particularly high risk for readmission.

Several aspects of medication management interventions remain unexplored. These include whether telephone calls are as effective as face-to-face visits, how many patient interactions are necessary, whether nurse- based or pharmacist- based interventions are superior, and how soon after discharge patients should have a visit or phone call. Post-discharge medication management could also be studied and compared in various subpopulations such as patients with low health literacy, poor family support, or other barriers to care. Lastly, descriptions of pharmacist training before the interventions and the specific medication-related issues the pharmacists addressed in each of these interventions might provide insight as to why some programs are more effective than others.

Bundled Care Coordination Interventions

The hospital-based literature suggests that combination interventions are more effective than single interventions. Given the complexity of the issues faced by patients after discharge, it is likely that this pattern would also emerge as a successful strategy for primary care-based interventions. The review of bundled care coordination intervention articles has been divided into several groups given the different lessons they offer about reducing readmissions from the primary care context.

The first group of articles examines bundled care coordination interventions implemented in the context of primary care practices in large academic medical centers. The second group of articles examines bundled care coordination interventions in the context of integrated health care systems. The third group describes care coordination interventions in the context of independent primary care practices, including safety net clinics and rural health clinics. Finally, the last set of articles examines care coordination interventions led by payers.

Interventions Implemented in Large Academic Medical Centers Peer-Reviewed Literature

Six of the articles examined bundled care coordination interventions in the context of primary care practices affiliated with an academic medical center; see Table 5. The interventions were generally delivered to elderly patients with comorbidities and patients who had been recently hospitalized. The interventions described in the articles reviewed were composed of similar activities, such as a home visit, needs assessment, medication reconciliation, patient education, weekly or monthly monitoring of the patient, and updates to the broader clinical team about the patient's status.

A recent study by Cavanaugh described a primary care-based multidisciplinary follow-up program for patients at high risk for hospital readmission.⁵⁰ The nonrandomized controlled trial took place in a National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) level 3 patient-centered medical home with a 15-year history in quality improvement. The program involved a clinic-based care manager who identified, triaged, and scheduled patients for post-discharge primary care follow up and coordinated transportation as necessary. At the post-discharge visit, patients were seen by a clinical pharmacist and a physician. In a retrospective evaluation in which patients who received the program were compared with matched controls who did not, there was a reduction in both 30-day and 90-day readmission rates but no change in ED visit rates. Intervention patients were also seen more quickly than control patients for hospital follow up appointments in their primary care clinic.

Similarly, a pre-post analysis by Farrell, evaluated a transition management intervention led by care managers in clinics with a PCMH model.⁵¹ The intervention involved primary care-based care managers who, in addition to more general care management services, offered specific care transition services. These included identifying and contacting recently discharged patients by telephone and coordinating timely primary care follow-up. The care managers contacted patients (who had a variety of insurance types) and followed a transition management phone questionnaire to assess patients' needs. There was a significant reduction in mean 30-day and 180-day hospital readmission rates.

A larger study by White, evaluated a multicomponent intervention in university-based PCMH practices using a nonrandomized, controlled, pre-post design ⁵² Four clinics implemented a "culture of continuity" that engaged the primary care team while the patient was hospitalized, during discharge planning, and after discharge. This intervention also included RNs serving as care managers and used techniques such as notifications when patients were admitted and discharged from the hospital; encouragement of primary care "in reach" to hospitalized patients; scheduling of post-discharge appointments within a week of discharge; and prompt communication between the hospitalist and primary care teams.

Readmission rates at 30 days were compared with a group of patients discharged from the same university hospital but who received primary care at 12 different county or community clinics without an ongoing practice transformation. There was a reduction in 30-day readmissions among patients empaneled at clinics that underwent the care redesign program relative to control clinics that did not implement the intervention. Another study by Balaban evaluated a comprehensive care transition intervention involving both primary care- initiated and hospital- initiated components using a randomized controlled design.⁵³ Over a 6-month period, patients with medical homes at one of two primary care sites were randomized to the intervention program or control group. The intervention consisted of:

- An educational patient discharge form—in English, Portuguese, or Spanish prepared by the discharge planning nurse at the time of discharge;
- Electronic transfer of this form to the nurses at the patient's primary care site;
- A scripted phone call upon arrival at home from a primary care-based nurse; and
- Primary care clinician review of the discharge-transfer plan.

The intervention resulted in higher post-discharge primary care follow up rates and higher rates of completion for recommended post-discharge workups.

A study by Stranges used a controlled design with propensity score matching to examine a multidisciplinary transitional care intervention targeting older adults.⁵⁴ The program was implemented in a geriatric and PCMH clinic that was part of an academic medical center. Transitional care included a post-discharge call from a pharmacist and a structured postdischarge clinic visit with a medical provider and social worker within a week of discharge. Social workers provided home visits and intensive follow up for up to 3 months for patients as needed. Medical providers also reviewed goals of care with patients and their families. While there was a reduction in 30-day readmissions among intervention versus control patients in the per-protocol analysis, this finding was not seen in the intention to treat analysis.

Gray Literature

Several primary care-based bundled care coordination interventions implemented in affiliation with a large hospital were also identified in the gray literature search:

- One was an ARRA Delivery Systems Grant recipient that examined primary care practice redesign.⁵⁵
- Another one, modeled on the Ambulatory Intensive Care Unit (A-ICU) care model, was highlighted in an AHRQ Service Delivery Innovation Profile.⁵⁶ This primary care management program for high-cost, medically complex patients with chronic conditions demonstrated improved self-management behaviors and clinical outcomes, lower utilization, a slowing of cost increases, and higher levels of patient satisfaction.
- Finally, a nurse practitioner-led program called "Health 360" addressed readmissions among complex patients by performing health needs assessments, documenting gaps in care, providing ongoing medication management, and supporting patients throughout the care continuum.⁵⁷

Article	Setting	Intervention	Outcomes
Cavanaugh J, Jones C, Embree G, et al. Implementation science workshop: primary care-based multidisciplinary readmission prevention program. J Gen Internal Med 2014;29(5):798- 804.	 A primary care internal medicine practice affiliated with the University of North Carolina. Patients discharged from a select teaching hospital with mixed insurance types (~50% had Medicaid). 	 Study design: nonrandomized controlled trial. Clinic-based care manager identified discharged patients at high risk for readmission and contacted them to schedule a follow-up appointment, ensure transportation, and address other barriers to care. Standardized 60- minute follow-up visit coordinated by clinical pharmacist practitioner; embedded in this follow-up visits a 20- minute attending physician appointment. 	 Decreased readmissions at 30 days: 5% vs. 14% (p=0.023); and 90 days: 10% vs. 24% (p=0.004). No change in ED visits at 30 and 90 days. Decreased time to follow up (median number of days): 7 vs. 12 (p=0.001).
Farrell T, Tomoaia- Cotisel A, Scammon, D, et al. Impact of an integrated transition management program in primary care on hospital readmissions. J Healthc Qual 2015;37(1):81-92.*	 Nine University of Utah Community Clinics with trained care managers and a PCMH- based design. N=118 clinic patients with various insurance types hospitalized at least twice at the University Hospital in the designated study periods. 	 Study design: pre-post analysis of readmission rates. Clinic-based care manager identified discharged patients at high risk for readmission and contacted them to schedule a follow-up appointment, ensure transportation, and address other barriers to care. Care managers used an 11-item questionnaire that was available to all outpatient care teams. 	 Mean readmission rates decreased at 30 days (17.9% vs. 8%; (p=0.01) and at 180 days (52.3% vs. 22%; p=0.01). Readmission rates were unchanged at 14 days and at 7 days for adults over 65.
White B, Carney P, Flynn J, et al. Reducing hospital readmissions through primary care practice transformation. J Fam Pract 2014;63(2):67-73.	 University-based PCMH primary care clinics Patients discharged from university hospital to one of 16 clinic sites. Intervention group N=685 patients at 4 university clinic sites and control group N=276 patients at 12 community and county primary care clinics. 	 Study designed: non randomized controlled pre-post analysis of readmission rates. Clinic- based transformation of care delivery for hospitalized patients, which included: Systematic real-time notifications via integrated EMR for admission and discharge. Arrangement of hospital follow up appointment, pre-discharge. Team-based care manager (RN) communication with the inpatient team. Development of individualized hospital follow-up workflow with standardized questions. 	 30 day readmission rates decreased from 27% to 7.1% (p=0.02) a year later in the intervention group and were unchanged in the control group. A linear regression model comparing monthly readmission rates between the two groups indicated a decreasing trend of readmission in the intervention group but not in the control group (p=0.05).

Table 5. Bundled Care Coordination Interventions Implemented in Primary CarePractices Affiliated With Hospitals

Article	Setting	Intervention	Outcomes
Balaban R, Weissman J, Samuel P, et al. Redefining and redesigning hospital discharge to enhance patient care: a randomized controlled study. J Gen Intern Med 2008;23(8):1228- 33.	 A small community teaching hospital in Massachusetts. Culturally and linguistically diverse patients with PCPs located at two integrated PCMH clinic sites. Intervention group N=47 patients and control group N=49 patients. 	 Study design: randomized controlled design. Patients randomized to the intervention group received specialized discharge instructions from a discharging nurse; a script-based follow-up call from a nurse at their primary care clinic; and review of their discharge plan by their PCP. Clinic sites used an EMR that was linked to the hospital. 	 No significant difference in 31-day readmission rates between the intervention and control groups (8.5% vs 8.2%; p=0.96). Aggregate rates of undesirable outcomes (no follow up in 21 days, readmission in 31 days, ED visits in 31 days, and incomplete outpatient workup) were reduced: 25.5% in the intervention group compared with 55.1% of the controls (p=0.003).
Stranges P, Marshall V, Walker P, et al. A multidisciplinary intervention for reducing readmissions among older adults in a patient-centered medical home. Am J Manag Care 2014;21(2):106-13.	 A PCMH and geriatric clinic that was part of a large academic medical center. Patients 60 or older discharged from the academic hospital to either home or an assisted living facility. Intervention group N=572 patients scheduled (N=217 completed intervention) and control group N=572 propensity scores matched patients 	 Study design: nonrandomized controlled design using propensity score matching A multidisciplinary transitional care program that included a post-discharge phone call and medication reconciliation by a pharmacist and follow-up within one week with a social worker and medical provider. 	 No difference in 30-day readmission rates among the intention to treat patients and control group (21.0% vs. 17.3%; p=0.133). Reduction in 30-day readmission rates in the per-protocol patients compared with the control group (10.6% vs. 17.3; p<0.01). Medication burden and number of high-risk diagnoses were found to be significant predictors of readmission.

* This study was funded by AHRQ.

Interventions in Integrated Health Care Systems Peer-Reviewed Literature

Takahashi evaluated a longer and more involved transition program in a primary care academic practice conducted at a large integrated health care system in a controlled study using propensity score matching.⁵⁸ A nurse enrolled high-risk patients at the index hospitalization, and an advanced practice clinician conducted a home visit within one to five business days post-discharge.

During the home visit, the provider would conduct medication reconciliation, chronic and acute illness management, patient education in self-care, and contingency planning for changes in clinical status or community liaisons. He or she also would review patient mobility, safety, cognition, and caregiver support. A team of primary care staff, which included an advanced practice clinician, registered nurse, and geriatrician, would review high-risk patients weekly for 1 to 3 months and update the PCP about the patient's status. Patients in this care transition program had a lower 30-day readmission rate compared

with their matched counterparts who were not in this program. But 180-day readmission rates were similar between the two groups.

Another study by Foltz, evaluated a community care team program sponsored by a large health system.⁵⁹ The program was designed to support primary care practices in the short-term management of high-risk patients. The teams consisted of a nurse care manager, a behavioral health specialist, a social worker, and a part-time clinical pharmacist. The team focused on care transitions, specifically contacting patients within 48 business hours of hospital discharge to reconcile medications and assist with care coordination activities. An evaluation of enrolled versus unenrolled patients showed a reduction in readmission rates among enrolled patients who received a hospital discharge reconciliation call.

Gray Literature

The gray literature also yielded an instance of a bundled care coordination intervention in the context of an integrated health care system. At Kaiser Permanente Colorado, nurses and licensed clinical social workers in primary care clinics conducted post-discharge phone calls to identify care needs of patients with chronic medical conditions.⁶⁰ These care coordinators would then assign patients to one of four service levels:

- Referral to other providers,
- Consultation for services such as medication reconciliation,
- Short-term management—up to 2 months, and
- Long-term management—4 to 6 months or longer.

This care coordination program led to significant reductions in hospitalizations and ED visits, an estimated cost savings of \$4 million, increased follow-up care, higher medication compliance, and high physician and patient/family satisfaction.

Article	Setting	Intervention	Outcomes
Takahashi P, Naessens J, Peterson S, et al. Short-term and long- term effectiveness of a post- hospital care transitions program in an older, medically complex population. Healthc (Amst) 2016 Mar;4(1):30-5.	 Three outpatient sites of an academic medical center in Southeastern Minnesota (Mayo Clinic) Patients >60 with prior hospitalizations and high medical complexity. Intervention group N=365 patients and control group N=365 propensity score matched patients. 	 Study design: nonrandomized controlled design with propensity score matching. A multidisciplinary care transition program beginning at the index hospitalization with an RN offering a home visit by an advanced clinician 1-5 days after discharge. During the home visit, the advanced practice clinician conducted medication reconciliation, chronic and acute illness management, and patient education in self-care/contingency planning. Patients were co-managed by a geriatrician, the PCP, the advanced practice clinician, and a nurse for 1-3 months after discharge. 	 Patients in the care transitions program had lower 30-day readmissions compared with matched controls (12.4% vs. 20.1%; p=0.002), but differences in readmission rates were not significantly reduced at 180 days (39.9% vs. 44.8%; p=0.787).
Foltz C, Lawrence S, Biery N, et al. Supporting primary care patient- centered medical homes with community care teams: findings from a pilot study. J of Clin Outcomes Manag 2014; 21(8):352-61.	 Primary care practices in the Lehigh Valley Health System, Pennsylvania. Practice-level analyses compared patients from the 6 control practices (N=29,881 patients) with 3 intervention practices (N=22,350 patients) that were also transforming toward PCMH. 	 Study design: nonrandomized longitudinal design. Community Care Team (CCT) program: team consisting of nurse care manager, behavioral health specialist, social worker, and pharmacist. Patients were contacted within 48 business hours of hospital discharge to reconcile medications and assist with care coordination activities. 	 Significant improvements in quality measures for both sets of practices. Reductions in the probability of an admission and readmission occurred only for high-risk patients in CCT practices.

Table 6. Bundled Care Coordination Interventions Implemented in Primary CarePractices in Integrated Health Care Systems

Care Transitions Programs in Independent Primary Care Practices Peer-Reviewed Literature

Although most patients receive care in independent primary care practices, little in the peer-reviewed literature discussed interventions in this setting. The one study conducted in this setting by Boyd described a pilot program called "Guided Care," in which trained nurses collaborated with two to five primary care physicians to deliver services to 50 to 60 multimorbid elderly patients.⁶¹ Once physicians identify patients for the program, nurses:

- Assess patients at home;
- Create an evidence-based care plan with the assistance of their unique EHR;
- Refer the patient to a 15-hour chronic-disease self-management training;
- Monitor patients at least monthly, often by telephone, while offering direct access for questions and concerns on weekdays and alerting the PCP as needed;
- Conduct motivational interviewing to facilitate patient participation in care and adherence to the action plan;
- Coordinate transitions between sites and care providers;
- Offer assessment, 10-hour caregiving course, monthly support group meetings, and telephone consultation to caregivers; and
- Facilitate access to community resources as needed.

The authors note key elements of successful integration of this program, such as having an onsite office for guided care nurses and familiarity with community resources. Although they found improved physician-patient communication among patients who received the intervention, they did not assess care transition outcomes such as readmission rates. The gray literature search also found that this intervention is currently undergoing a randomized control trial at eight sites in Baltimore, as highlighted in an AHRQ Service Delivery Innovation profile.

Table 7. Bundled Care Coordination Interventions Designed for All Primary Care
Practices

Article	Setting	Intervention	Outcomes
Boyd CM, Shadmi E, Conwell LJ, et al. A pilot test of the effect of guided care on the quality of primary care experiences for multimorbid older adults. J Gen Intern Med 2008;23(5):536- 42.*	 Nonacademic primary care practice in Baltimore. Patients > 60 with multimorbidity. Intervention group N=50-60 patients. 	 Guided Care (GC) nurse performs a home assessment and creates an evidence-based care plan. In partnership with the primary physician, the nurse: Monitors and coaches the patient monthly; Coordinates the patient's transitions between providers and sites of care; Educates and supports family caregivers; and Facilitates access to community resources. 	 GC participants were more likely than usual care participants to give their care and their primary care physicians high ratings. GC participants were also more likely to be satisfied with their providers' interactions with chronically ill older patients and their families.

* This study was funded by AHRQ.

Gray Literature

Two examples of care transition programs in independent primary care practices were found in the gray literature. The first, highlighted in an AHRQ Service Delivery Innovation Profile,

was a care coordination program delivered at ChenMed, a physician-led practice of 36 centers six states that offers integrated care to Medicare under capitated contracts.⁶² The care coordination activities, focusing on seniors with multiple chronic conditions, included:

- Monthly extended visits with the PCP, offering onsite specialist visits, testing, and medication dispensing;
- Frequent care coordination meetings among providers;
- Care coordination during inpatient stays;
- Referrals to community-based services; and
- Additional programs and infrastructure, such as free transportation and customized electronic medical records with built-in decision support.

Early results seem promising, including high levels of adherence to screenings and care management processes, good blood glucose control among diabetes patients, low use of inpatient services, and high patient satisfaction.

The second example was a hospital- and community-based program at Meritage ACO, a physician-owned and governed Medicare Shared Savings ACO in California.⁶³ Their ACO used care transition coaching to visit patients at the bedside, care management to educate and engage patients, and care coordination to help eliminate duplication and confusion when patients moved between settings. Their readmission rate for their highest risk patients was just 10.2 percent.

Readmission Reduction Efforts Led by Payers

In some settings, third-party payers may initiate programs to support primary care clinicians in their efforts to improve care coordination at the time of hospital discharge.

Peer-Reviewed Literature

Four articles examined primary care-based readmission reduction efforts led by payers.

Rosenberg evaluated a health plan-initiated program aimed at promoting adoption of the PCMH model by contracted primary care clinics.⁶⁴ Specifically, the health plan offered practice sites care management support, actionable data reports, and administrative support and guidance.

The study examined practices within a network that transitioned to PCMH status versus those that did not. Researchers found that readmissions among sites that transitioned to PCMH decreased by 12.5 percent, in contrast with a 0.4 percent increase in readmissions for other practices within the network. However, the findings are limited by confounding factors that likely vary between participating and nonparticipating sites.

Another study by Schraeder, described a similar multicomponent care management program, involving targeted patient outreach after emergency room and hospital visits.⁶⁵ The study evaluated a 36-month nonrandomized comparison of elderly patients at high risk for mortality, functional decline, or increased health service use. The intervention included:

- An education series about collaborative care for older adults for primary care staff;
- Assigning a nurse case manager and case assistant to each clinic;
- A home visit and assessment, including development of a longitudinal care plan that was regularly updated;
- Weekly contact during hospitalizations;
- Patient education on community resources, medication management, disease processes, and exacerbation of symptoms;
- Regular calls to patients after physician office visits, ED visits, or hospital admissions; and
- Monthly reports distributed to the collaborative care teams.

There were no significant differences between the treatment and comparison groups for hospitalizations or ED visits, but re-hospitalization was significantly reduced—by 34%—in the treatment group.

The final two studies in this group—by Dubard and Jackson—both examined the North Carolina Community Care Program, which offers transitional care support to primary care practices serving 21,375 Medicaid recipients with complex chronic conditions.^{66,67} This statewide population-based transitional care program offered comprehensive medication management, face-to-face self-management education for patients and families, and timely outpatient follow-up with a medical home.

Based on an analysis of Medicaid claims data of patients hospitalized during 2010-2011, patients who received transitional care services through the program experienced a 20 percent lower readmission rate versus matched control patients. Twelve-month readmission rates were also consistently lower, especially among patients within the highest risk stratum.

Table 8. Primary Car	e-Based Care Tra	ansitions Programs Led by Health P	lans

Article	Setting	Intervention	Outcomes
Rosenberg C, Peele P, Keyser D, et al. Results from a patient-centered medical home pilot at UPMC Health Plan hold lessons for broader adoption of the model. Health Aff 2012;31(11):2423-31.	 Ten primary care sites transitioning to PCMH programs in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; N=23,900 UPMC Health Plan members. 	 Study design: analysis of health plan data. Practice-based nurse care manager assigned to high-need patients with chronic conditions to help provide: Individually tailored care plans; Direct access for members to caregivers outside regular office hours; Follow-up with members after ED or hospital visit; Rescheduling of missed appointments; Alerts to physicians of specific needs and circumstances when members come to the practice; Virtual comprehensive care team support for lifestyle concerns, medication reconciliation, and home visits; and Data sharing on all UPMC Health Plan members. 	 Patients who received transitional care services through the program experienced a 20% lower rate of readmission vs. matched control patients.
Clark I, et al. Evaluation of a primary care nurse case	 58 primary care practices in Illinois. Intervention group N=50-60 patients over age 60. 	 Study design: nonrandomized trial. Intervention included: Education series for primary care staff; Nurse case manager and case assistant assigned to each primary care clinic; Home visit and assessment; care plan development with PCP; monthly visit/contact with patient to review and update plan, monitor health status, provide education on managing health, and arrange health-related services; Weekly contact in the case of hospitalization; Ongoing patient education on community resources, medication management, and disease processes; Regular calls to patient, particularly after physician office visits, ED visits, or hospital admissions; Monthly reports distributed to the collaborative care teams. 	 No significant differences between treatment and comparison group in the percentage of patients with hospital stays or ED visits. However, among those hospitalized in the treatment group, the likelihood of being rehospitalized was significantly reduced, by 34% (p = 0.032). Reduced hospital use resulted in cost savings of \$106 per patient per month in the treatment group.

Article	Setting	Intervention	Outcomes
Dubard C, Cockerham J, Jackson C. Collaborative accountability for care transitions: the Community Care of North Carolina Transitions Program. N C Med J 2012;73(1):34-40. Jackson C, Trygstad T, DeWalt D, et al. Transitional care cut hospital readmissions for North Carolina Medicaid patients with complex chronic conditions. Health Aff 2013;32(8):1407-15.	 North Carolina, community-based, physician-led program for establishing PCMH for Medicaid patients; N=21,375 Medicaid recipients with complex chronic conditions discharged from a hospital; N=13,476 in intervention group and N=7,899 usual care. 	 Study design: North Carolina Medicaid claims analysis. Broad range of transitional care activities ranging from high to low intensity: Home visit by care manager, Medication review by clinical pharmacist, Telehealth management and service coordination, Patient education; Medication reconciliation, Face-to-face encounter between patient and care manager, and Ongoing follow-up or monitoring by care manager. 	 Adjusted readmission rates ~20% lower for Medicaid beneficiaries who received transitional care vs. usual care. 12-month readmission rates consistently lower for participants in the transitional care group, with greatest impact on patients in the highest risk group.

Gray Literature

Finally, a Robert Wood Johnson article found in the gray literature reported innovative models that redefine nursing to improve care coordination in several States and nationally.⁶⁸ It described a program in a Minnesota-based health care organization in which nurses take the lead role in primary care, as well as coordinating post-visit and between-visit care, including post-hospitalization care.

In Pennsylvania, the state offered financial incentives to primary care practices to implement the Wagner Chronic Care Model in the PCMH context. The model relies on nurses to provide care management. As part of Vermont's Blueprint for Health programs, nurse care coordinators collaborate with social workers, behavioral health counselors, and others to make sure that patients receive preventive and coordinated care.

Last, the article describes an effort by the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs to provide veterans with a five-person Patient-Aligned Care Team (PACT) that delivers continuous, coordinated care over time. So far, the program has shown significant reductions in emergency and urgent care visits, as well as acute-care hospital admissions.

Summary

Based on this search, care coordination interventions led by third-party payers in an effort to support primary care practices in coordinating care at the time of hospital discharge may be an effective approach to improving care and reducing avoidable readmissions. This approach may be most relevant in settings in which small, independent primary care practices lack the infrastructure and business case to engage in structured care transition programs.

The Patient-Centered Medical Home and Care Coordination

The PCMH is a key framework driving primary care transformation including care coordination activities that help reduce avoidable readmissions. Although many of the preceding articles about care coordination interventions were conducted in the context of the PCMH framework, two articles examined the efficacy of the PCMH model itself.

In the Hearld article, there was a focus on the correlation between PCMH capacity—the ability to offer services that represent component parts of the PCMH such as patient registry and extended access—and timeliness of post-hospital follow-up visit.⁶⁹ Overall, there was no significant association between PCMH capacity and early follow-up, but a subgroup of patients with chronic conditions did receive earlier follow-up.

Wagner examined the utility of a care coordination model in improving coordination among participating practices in the Safety Net Medical Home Initiative (SNMHI).⁷⁰ The SNMHI was a Commonwealth Fund-sponsored project designed to develop and test a replicable model for supporting acceleration of PCMH transformation among 65 safety net practices in five states. Practices included federally qualified health centers, rural health clinics, and other safety net providers.

The PCMH model included eight change concepts, one of which was care coordination. Results showed that fidelity to the Care Coordination Model elements were positively correlated with timely post-emergency room and hospital discharge follow-up.

Summary

Although data are limited, evidence suggests that primary care practices may be more effective in improving care coordination during care transitions when these efforts are embedded within a PCMH framework.

Integrating Hospital- and Primary Care-Based Efforts

As described earlier, the literature has identified a number of barriers to communication and coordination between hospitals and PCPs. Several of these articles also described recommendations for sharing or assigning accountability during the care transition process.

Peer-Reviewed Literature

In the section about challenges to care coordination, several articles focused on issues associated with the disconnect between hospitals and primary care. For instance, Davis, emphasized the importance of communication between primary care clinicians and hospitalists in improving transitional care, while acknowledging that hospitalists and PCPs may have differing views about how such communication should occur.²² They highlighted the need for communitywide discussions to agree on expectations, and, ideally, the development of a "community contract" in which responsibilities are assigned for each transitional care element.

Shih analyzed the communication between PCPs and home care nurses in the postdischarge period.²⁴ The study reported on finding a lack of relationships between PCPs and home care nurses, inadequate articulation of responsibilities, and different perspectives between these two provider types in the reasons for readmission. Their research supported the need for explicit agreement on roles and responsibilities among all providers caring for the patient.

Finally, Jones conducted separate focus groups with hospitalists and PCPs on the challenges in care transitions in the post-discharge period.²³ They found that hospitalists and PCPs identified many similar challenges and that the differences noted were typically issues that clinicians in other settings were unaware of. They further identified a lack of accountability for pending tests and for home health services initiated by inpatient providers. Possible solutions recommended included creating formal systems to establish accountability between inpatient and outpatient providers for tests, imaging, and home health care.

A comprehensive review article by Tang outlined a prototype of an effective partnership between hospital and primary care-led teams in managing care transitions.⁷¹ Specifically, the model assigned accountability to primary care providers and clinic staff for:

- Calling the patient within 72 hours of discharge,
- Ensuring additional follow-up appointments with the PCP as needed,
- Coordinating care,
- Providing access when new symptoms arise,
- Tracking readmission rates, and
- Monitoring frequently admitted patients.

Primary care clinics and hospitals must jointly be accountable for ensuring mechanisms for appropriate communication and notifications when patients are hospitalized. Tang emphasized the importance of payment reform for primary care clinics seeking to assume these expanded roles. The article cited ACOs and recently enacted Medicare payment codes for care coordination as essential to the expansion of primary care's role in improving care transitions.

In another article, Jacquin described key components to transform the care delivery model across the continuum to succeed under value-based payment models: managing care across the continuum, reducing readmissions for all diagnoses, building and supporting the PCMH model, and achieving clinical integration.⁷² Particularly, she described sets of tasks across the continuum – such as pre-acute care or readmission avoidance settings, acute care/hospital setting, and post-acute care—that different parties should be responsible for. Models that explicitly describe such roles across the continuum of care and how they interface with one another can help improve efficiency and quality of care.

Summary

Expert recommendations consistently highlight the need for clear accountability for primary care clinicians and in the care transitions process, as well as the need to explicitly define primary care responsibilities. Advanced payment models in which primary care clinicians accept some of the risk for patients may help stimulate the necessary discussions for defining this accountability.

Tools and Resources

The research on primary care-based readmissions efforts is still emerging, but the evidence reviewed suggests that primary care can play an important role in care transitions; see Table 9 which lists five tools developed to help primary care clinics improve care transitions.

The first resource is a Web page by Maine Quality Counts that offers a list of care transition tools and resources largely developed from hospital-based literature. It includes information from a variety of sources on care transitions for primary care providers and a sample follow-up telephone call script.⁷³ The second is a checklist developed by Eric Coleman for the California Healthcare Foundation to identify tasks that should be completed to reduce readmissions prior to, during, and at the conclusion of the primary care follow-up visit; this checklist includes tasks such as review discharge summary and provide instructions for seeking after-hours care.⁴

The remaining three tools are comprehensive guides on care coordination and transitional care activities. The first is a toolkit, funded by AHRQ, called the Primary Care Transitions Change Package, which was developed by the North Carolina IMPACT Transitional Care Collaborative.⁷⁴ The 102-page toolkit describes a quality improvement framework, patient risk stratification, testing of the post-discharge visit protocol, medication reconciliation, and ways to connect patients with community resources, among many other related issues.

Second, the MacColl Institute for Healthcare Innovation developed a Change Package for Better Care Coordination.⁷⁵ The toolkit introduces a Care Coordination Model based on key concepts that contribute to successful referrals and care transitions. The toolkit then describes six key changes that support the model and identifies resources to facilitate each change, with case studies for illustration and an index of the recommended tools and resources.

Lastly, the Patient Centered Primary Care Collaborative developed a resource called the *Guide to Care Coordination in the Medical Home*.⁷⁶ The guide includes expert articles offering insight into what is known and tested about care coordination and is designed to offer a roadmap for new and emerging programs. The guide also contains case examples representing a range of programs at various stages of implementation.

These tools and resources offer assistance to primary care providers interested in reducing avoidable admissions and offer a foundation for future research and resulting guidance on primary care-based readmission reduction initiatives. Testing these tools and resources over time and in different settings will greatly inform the field.

Table 9. Tools and Resources

Author and Tool or Resource	Intended Audience	Purpose	Description
Maine Quality Counts. Care Transitions Tools & Resources.	Hospital-based tools, but can be applied to a primary care setting	Help practices and providers promote safe and effective care transitions and reduce avoidable readmissions	 A Web page of tools for providers and practices: 1. Care transitions roadmap; 2. RWJF Care Transitions tools and resources for reducing inappropriate ED use; 3. HARMS-8 tool for assessing nonmedical risks; 4. Project BOOST post-discharge follow-up call script; 5. Institute for Healthcare Improvement post-discharge checkup checklist; and 6. INTERACT Tool
Coleman E. California Healthcare Foundation. The Post-Hospital Follow-Up Visit: A Physician Checklist to Reduce Readmissions.	Primary care setting	Fill the literature gap regarding post- hospital best practices for primary care providers	A checklist covering the before, during, and after of the primary care visit for readmission risk awareness
DeWalt D. Cecil G. Sheps Center for Health Services Research and Community Care North Carolina. Primary Care Transitions Change Package.*	Primary care setting	Provide quick reference to rethinking practice design, implementing low- risk strategies, and integrating care transitions work into their practice	 A quality improvement toolkit that contains methods and tools to address the following key areas: 1. Provide timely access to care following a hospitalization, 2. Prepare for post-discharge visits, 3. Conduct a thorough post-discharge visit, and 4. Communicate and coordinate an on-going care plan.
Wagner E, Schaefer J, Horner K, et al. MacColl Institute for Healthcare Innovation. Reducing Care Fragmentation: A Toolkit for Coordinating Care.	Designed for clinics, practices, and health systems focused on improving care coordination	Provide guidance around care coordination to ensure successful referrals and transitions	A guide that describes four aspects of reducing care fragmentation—accountability, patient support, relationships and agreements, and connectivity—and corresponding tools for implementation and example case studies
Patient Centered Primary Care Collaborative (PCPCC). Care Coordination in the Medical Home.	Primary care setting in the process of implementing PCMH	Explore the role and issues associated with care coordination and the medical home	 A report that offers: 1. Expert-authored articles on the definition, role, and function of care coordination, as well as tools for implementation and measurement and monitoring of its effectiveness 2. Case examples 3. Summary of survey responses from select practices

* This resource was funded by AHRQ.

Discussion

This review summarized the literature on barriers and challenges from the primary care perspective of caring for patients during the vulnerable time after hospital discharge. The review also covered the literature on primary care interventions aimed at improving care during the post-discharge period. This analysis adds to the existing literature on hospital-based efforts to improve the discharge process for patients and to reduce the rate of avoidable readmissions.

The literature suggests that primary care providers face several key barriers and challenges to caring appropriately for their patients at the time of, and immediately after, hospital discharge. Most notably, they face:

- System challenges, including a lack of reimbursement options for compensating peri-discharge care coordination;
- Organizational challenges, including suboptimal communication mechanisms between the hospital and ambulatory environments;
- Provider-related challenges, including a lack of time and support to communicate with inpatient providers and understand medication and other changes that occurred during hospitalization; and
- Patient-related challenges, including financial barriers to receiving necessary postdischarge care, inadequate physical and emotional support to comply with the post-discharge care plan, and lack of social support to address nonmedical needs such as housing and transportation.

While the extent of these challenges varies by setting—with integrated delivery systems less burdened by some of these challenges and complex environments with numerous hospitals and small practices more burdened—all systems face these challenges to some degree. Patient-related challenges also vary considerably and are most pronounced among lower income vulnerable populations and among frail, elderly, and chronically ill patients. Regardless of the patient population, patients are vulnerable during the peri-discharge period and may benefit from targeted, specialized support services.

Overall, this review has found emerging literature on primary care-based care transition programs, but this literature is less robust than the literature on hospital-based programs. There have been few high-quality controlled studies of interventions aimed at addressing and overcoming the challenges and barriers listed above. Moreover, the types of interventions that have been studied vary in nature and in the settings where they have been conducted. While many of these shortcomings are apparent in the literature on hospital-based care transition programs,¹¹ they appear even more pronounced among primary care-based programs.

Nonetheless, these findings highlight the following general themes with respect to the effectiveness of primary care-based care transition strategies. First, as is the case for hospital-based interventions, the most encouraging approaches seem to involve

multicomponent bundled interventions aimed at addressing multiple challenges that patients and providers face. Several controlled studies of bundled care coordination interventions described in this review found substantial improvements in several outcomes, including readmission rates. Common activities included in successful bundled interventions involved care coordination efforts, medication management, post-discharge telephonic outreach, and patient education.

Similar to the literature on hospital-based interventions, the studies identified that primarily included only a single focused intervention typically failed to demonstrate a meaningful impact on patient outcomes such as readmission reduction. For example, the data suggest that coordinating post-discharge primary care visits for patients, without other concurrent care coordination efforts, is unlikely to lower readmission rates. Presumably, many of the factors leading to readmissions cannot be addressed through any single effort alone; however, narrow care coordination efforts may affect other outcomes, including the experience of patients and frontline providers. The notable exception to this finding may be automated alerts notifying primary care clinicians when their patients are admitted and discharged, which may provide modest benefits in isolation.

A second theme is that many of the most successful primary care-initiated care transition programs occurred within the context of more general primary care transformation efforts guided—either explicitly or implicitly—by a PCMH framework aimed at improving care for patients longitudinally. Importantly, however, these general transformation efforts may not require official PCMH certification to be successful. This finding contrasts with most hospital-based care transition efforts that target care transitions but may not necessarily be part of a larger hospital-based care redesign effort.

It is possible that broader PCMH-guided transformation efforts may provide an anchor for effectively implementing and sustaining primary care-initiated care transition programs. Indeed, care coordination resources, such as case management staff, may be leveraged for multiple purposes, driving efficiencies. Similarly, care transition efforts may synergize with more general efforts aimed at promoting continuity, quality improvement, access, and holistic care that are fundamental to the PCMH framework.

A third theme is that the approach to primary care-based PCMH interventions may vary depending on the setting. Transition efforts are facilitated by clinical and financial integration between clinics and hospitals. For example, independent community primary care practices face particular challenges coordinating care for patients following hospitalization because they are not affiliated with hospitals or other networks that can assist with or facilitate coordination efforts during care transitions. In such settings, primary care clinics that lack the scale to hire their own dedicated care coordination staff may attempt to leverage community resources, such as those available through third-party payers or hospitals, to support their patients. These networks may offer dedicated care management staff to track hospitalized patients and ensure appropriate information from the hospital is communicated to primary care clinicians.

In addition, in fully integrated care delivery systems, health information exchange and communication between the inpatient and primary care settings are greatly facilitated.

Nevertheless, there remain important needs to ensure effective transitions for patients admitted to out-of-network hospitals. Even within these systems, communication during care transitions is critical. As noted above, a key component of the successful Group Health PCMH demonstration, which took place at an integrated delivery system, involved protocoled outreach to patients in the peri-discharge period.

A fourth theme is that many of the primary care-based interventions reviewed were funded by grants or other temporary funding mechanisms. For example, many of the staff members used in these interventions—nurses, pharmacists, and care managers—did not provide directly reimbursable services. Thus, additional clinics could not initiate these programs without external support, raising important concerns about the sustainability of these programs.

In some settings, primary care clinics are part of organizations bearing financial risk for their population. As such, primary care-based transition programs may be justified by value added either in: experiential such as improvements in patient experience or quality scores; financial such as cost avoidance outcomes; or both. However, many primary care providers in the United States do not work within organizations bearing direct financial risk, and expenditures on interventions aimed at improving care coordination at the time of hospital discharge may not reap financial returns. Thus, in addition to identifying optimal primary care approaches for improving care transitions, the resources to support such activities need to be taken into consideration.

Several articles examined in the section about readmission reduction efforts led by payers demonstrate the feasibility of implementing care transition programs on a large scale in a sustainable way. There are also emerging opportunities through Medicare and some commercial payers to reimburse for care management services, including those connected to care transitions.⁷⁷

Finally, it is worth noting that while general themes emerged, the outcomes of the programs described were not universally predictable based on definable patterns. Specifically, some programs succeeded despite being narrowly focused while others did not achieve the intended outcomes even though they were broad in scope and took place within a favorable setting.

This finding is common among health service interventions and may relate to intangible factors such as the overarching culture of a particular organization.⁷⁸ It also may explain, in part, why programs initiated within the context of more general primary care transformation efforts guided by a PCMH framework tend to be more successful; the presence of a PCMH initiative may be a marker of a favorable culture associated with programmatic success. Thus, although the above-described themes can help guide primary care organizations as they implement care transition programs, intangible factors also may influence success.

Conclusions

The research findings from this environmental scan have implications for primary care clinic and health system leaders, policymakers, and researchers.

First, for clinic and health system leaders, the existing literature suggests some important lessons and strategies for successful care transition models. The Tools and Resources section lists toolkits and other documents that provide practical guidance for those hoping to develop programs for improving care transitions for their populations.

Moreover, multifaceted, primary care-based efforts might be most effective if they align with hospital-based care transition programs. Efforts to link ambulatory and hospital strategies for supporting care transitions will likely depend on efforts to build cooperative relationships with hospitals in their communities. To promote such relationships, primary care and hospital leaders might collaborate to define responsibilities to facilitate accountability for the entire care transition process. This collaboration might take the form of formal agreements between primary care clinics and hospitals in their communities.^{79,80} And the development of agreements may need some additional supports such as shared savings programs, managed care contracts, and other efforts to align clinic and hospital financial incentives.

For policymakers, these findings highlight the importance of broadly supporting investment in primary care. Previous research has shown that health systems with strong primary care infrastructure perform better both with respect to the quality and efficiency of care delivery than those with poorly developed systems of primary care.¹⁹ These findings confirm that the most successful and sustainable care transition initiatives are embedded within strong primary care systems.⁸¹

These findings also highlight the value of both clinical and financial integration between primary care practices and hospitals in facilitating care transition efforts. As noted above, financial arrangements for alignment in non-integrated settings and financial arrangements that align primary care and hospital incentives, may facilitate this integration. The importance of policymakers in this process cannot be overlooked if sustainable care transition programs are to be broadly instituted.

In addition, the environmental scan's findings highlight the need for further development of the evidence base with respect to primary-based care transition interventions. Analogous to the research on hospital-based programs, there needs to be more methodologically rigorous studies examining the primary care setting. Additional projects on care transitions in independent primary care practice settings should be undertaken by researchers since most of the studies identified were conducted in partially or fully integrated delivery systems and academic health systems.

Researchers should consider designing low-cost interventions that build on existing infrastructure, such as existing care coordination staff within the ambulatory environment, as well as on integrating efforts with existing hospital-based care transition efforts. To the extent possible, patients should be involved in designing interventions to ensure that programs are designed around patients' goals. It will be critical not simply to develop general approaches for improving care transitions from the primary care perspective, but also to support the development of best practices for implementing these approaches in complex real-world settings.

Another critical issue resulting from the scan is the recognition that: 1) no primary care practice workflow is the same;⁸² and 2) care coordination activities have many interdependencies both in and out of the primary care practice setting.⁸³ Furthermore, it also demonstrates the potential of primary care-led interventions, particularly those embedded within a strong framework, to improve care for patients being discharged particularly when it supplements existing literature. Finally, the findings of this environmental scan provide an impetus for further examination the benefits of coordination of transitional care interventions between hospitals, primary care, and communities.

References

- Center for Medicare and Medicaid Innovation. Project evaluation activity in support of Partnership for Patients: task 2 evaluation progress report. Princeton, NJ: Mathematica Policy Research, Health Services Advisory Group; February 2014. <u>http://innovation.cms.gov/Files/reports/PFPEvalProgRpt.pdf</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 2. Tsilimingras D, Bates DW. Addressing post-discharge adverse events: a neglected area. Jt Comm J Qual Pat Saf 2008;34.2:85-97.
- 3. Greenwald JL, Jack BW. Preventing the preventable: reducing rehospitalizations through coordinated, patient-centered discharge processes. Prof Case Manage 2009;14(3):135-40; quiz 141-2.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2720804/. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 4. Coleman EA, Parry C, Chalmers S, et al. The care transitions intervention: results of a randomized controlled trial. Arch Intern Med 2006 Sep 25;166 (17):1822-8.
- Boutwell A, Bourgoin A, Maxwell J, et al. Designing and delivering whole-person transitional care: the hospital guide to reducing Medicaid readmissions. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; September 2016. AHRQ Publication No. 16-0047-EF.

http://www.ahrq.gov/professionals/systems/hospital/medicaidreadmitguide/index.html. Accessed July 14, 2017.

6. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Number, rate, and average length of stay for discharges from short-stay hospitals, by age, region, and sex: United States, 2010.

https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhds/1general/2010gen1_agesexalos.pdf. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- Gerhardt G, Yemane A, Hickman P, et al. Medicare readmission rates showed meaningful decline in 2012. Medicare Medicaid Res Rev 2013 May 28;3(2). <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3983725/</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 8. Trudnak T, Kelley D, Zerzan J, et al. Medicaid admissions and readmissions: understanding the prevalence, payment, and most common diagnoses. Health Aff (Millwood) 2014;33(8):1337-44. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0632.
- Weir L, Barrett M, Steiner C, et al. All-cause readmissions by payer and age, 2008. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2011. <u>http://www.hcup-us.ahrq.gov/reports/statbriefs/sb115.pdf</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 10. Jencks SF, Williams MV, Coleman EA. Rehospitalizations among patients in the Medicare fee-for-service program. New Engl J Med 2009;360:1418-28. http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMsa0803563. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 11. Hansen L, Young R, Hinami K, et al. Interventions to reduce 30-day rehospitalization: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med 2011;155 (8):520-8. <u>http://annals.org/aim/article/474993/interventions-reduce-30-day-rehospitalization-</u>

systematic-review. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 12. Boozary A, Manchin J, Wicker R. The Medicare Hospital Readmissions Reduction Program. JAMA 2015;314 (4):347-8. doi 10 1001/jama 2015 6507.
- 13. Zuckerman R, Sheingold S, Orav E, et al. Readmissions, observation, and the hospital readmissions reduction program. New Engl J Med 2016;374(16):1543-51. http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMsa1513024. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- Jenq G, Doyle M, Belton B, et al. Quasi-experimental evaluation of the effectiveness of a large-scale readmission reduction program. JAMA Intern Med 2016;176 (5):681-90.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27065180. Accessed July 14, 2017.

15. Auerbach A, Kripalani S, Vasilevskis E, et al. Preventability and causes of readmissions in a national cohort of general medicine patients. JAMA Intern Med 2016;176(4):484-93.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26954564. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 16. Atkins D, Kansagara D. Reducing readmissions—destination or journey? JAMA Intern Med 2016;176(4):493-5. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26954103. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 17. Kripalani S, LeFevre F, Phillips C, et al. Deficits in communication and information transfer between hospital-based and primary care physicians. JAMA 2007;297(8):831-41.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17327525. Accessed July 14, 2017

- Starfield B, Shi L, Macinko J. Contribution of primary care to health systems and health. Milbank Q 2005;83(3):457-502. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2690145/</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017
- 19. Larson E, Reid R. The patient-centered medical home movement: why now? JAMA 2010;303(16):1644-5. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20424256.
- 20. Nguyen O, Kruger J, Greysen S, et al. Understanding how to improve collaboration between hospitals and primary care in post-discharge care transitions: a qualitative study of primary care leaders' perspectives. J Hosp Med 2014;9 (11):700-6. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25211608.
- 21. Davis M, Devoe M, Kansagara D, et al. "Did I do as best as the system would let me?" Healthcare professional views on hospital to home care transitions. J Gen Intern Med 2012;27(12):1649-56.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3509297/. Accessed July 14, 2017.

22. Jones C, Vu M, O'Donnell C, et al. A failure to communicate: a qualitative exploration of care coordination between hospitalists and primary care providers around patient hospitalizations. J Gen Intern Med 2014;30 (4):417-24. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4370981/</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.

23. Shih A, Buurman B, Tynan-McKiernan K, et al. Views of primary care physicians and home care nurses on the causes of readmission of older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc

2015; 63(10):2193-6. PMID: 26480986.

- 24. Arora VM, Prochaska ML, Farnan JM, et al. Problems after discharge and understanding of communication with their primary care physicians among hospitalized seniors: a mixed methods study. J Hosp Med 2010;5 (7):385-91. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3186075/</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 25. Cain C, Neuwirth E, Bellows J, et al. Patient experiences of transitioning from hospital to home: an ethnographic quality improvement project. J Hosp Med 2012;7 (5):3827.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22378714. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 26. Ackerman S, Gleason N, Monacelli J, et al. When to repatriate? Clinicians' perspectives on the transfer of patient management from specialty to primary care. J Gen Intern Med 2014;29(10):1355-61. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4175642/</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 27. Kattel S, Manning D, Erwin P, et al. Information transfer at hospital discharge. J Patient Saf 2016 Jan 7. [Epub ahead of print] PMID: 26741789.
- 28. Koenig C, Maguen S, Daley A, et al. Passing the baton: a grounded practical theory of handoff communication between multidisciplinary providers in two Department of Veterans Affairs outpatient settings. J Gen Intern Med 2012;28 (1):41-50. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3539021/. Accessed July 14, 2017
- 29. Bell CM, Schnipper JL, Auerbach AD, et al. Association of communication between hospital-based physicians and primary care providers with patient outcomes. J Gen Intern Med 2009; 24 (3):381-6.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2642573/. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 30. Armor B, Wight A, Carter S. Evaluation of adverse drug events and medication discrepancies in transitions of care between hospital discharge and primary care follow-up. J Pharm Pract 2016;29(2):132-7. PMID: 25312264.
- 31. Lee J, Ganz-Lord F, Tung J, et al. Bridging care transitions. Acad Med 2013;88(11):1685-8.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4026012/. Accessed July 14, 2017.

32. Heyworth L, Clark J, Marcello T, et al. Aligning medication reconciliation and secure messaging: qualitative study of primary care providers' perspectives. J Med Internet Res 2013;15(12):e264.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3868963/. Accessed July 14, 2017.

33. Field T, Ogarek J, Garber L, et al. Association of early post-discharge follow-up by a primary care physician and 30-day rehospitalization among older adults. J Gen Intern Med 2014;30 (5):565-71.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4395599/. Accessed July 14, 2017.

34. Misky G, Wald H, Coleman E. Post-hospitalization transitions: examining the effects of timing of primary care provider follow-up. J Hosp Med 2010;5 (7):392-7. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/20578046. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 35. Lin C, Barnato A, Degenholtz H. Physician follow-up visits after acute care hospitalization for elderly Medicare beneficiaries discharged to noninstitutional settings. J Am Geriatr Soc 2011;59 (10):1947-54. PMID: 21883117.
- 36. Gurwitz J, Field T, Ogarek J, et al. An electronic health record-based intervention to increase follow-up office visits and decrease rehospitalization in older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc 2014;62 (5):865-71.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4351873/. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 37. Moran W, Davis K, Moran T, et al. Where are my patients? It is time to automate notification of hospital use to primary care practices. South Med J 2012;105 (1):18-23. PMID: 22189662.
- 38. Crocker JB, Crocker JT, Greenwald JL. Telephone follow-up as a primary care intervention for post-discharge outcomes improvement: a systematic review. Am J Med 2012;125 (9):915-21.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22938927. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 39. Tang N, Fujimoto J, Karliner L. Evaluation of a primary care-based post-discharge phone call program: keeping the primary care practice at the center of post-hospitalization care transition. J Gen Intern Med 2014;29(11):1513-8. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4238210/. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 40. Graham J, Tomcavage J, Salek D, et al. Post-discharge monitoring using interactive voice response system reduces 30-day readmission rates in a case-managed Medicare population. Med Care 2012;50(1):50-7. doi:10.1097/mlr.0b013e318229433e.
- 41. Mistiaen P, Poot E. Telephone follow-up by a hospital-based health professional after hospital discharge. Cochrane Library. 2006 Oct 18. <u>http://www.cochrane.org/CD004510/COMMUN_telephone-follow-up-by-a-</u> <u>hospital-based-health-professional-after-hospital-discharge</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 42. Forster A, Murff H, Peterson J, et al.. The incidence and severity of adverse events affecting patients after discharge from the hospital. Ann Intern Med 2003;138:161-7. http://annals.org/aim/article/716006/incidence- severity-adverse-events-affecting-patients-after-discharge-from-hospital. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 43. Aufseeser-Weiss M. Medication use risk management: hospital meets home care. J Nurs Care Qual 2001;15(2):50-7. PMID: 11125696.
- 44. Hesselink G, Flink M, Olsson M, et al. Are patients discharged with care? A qualitative study of perceptions and experiences of patients, family members and care providers. BMJ Qual Saf 2012 Dec;21 Suppl 1:i39-49. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23118410. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 45. Tedesco G, McConaha J, Skomo M, et al. A pharmacist's impact on 30-day readmission rates when compared to the current standard of care within a patient-centered medical home: a pilot study. J Pharm Pract 2016 Aug;29(4):368-73.doi:10.1177/0897190014568671.
- 46. Kilcup M, Schultz D, Carlson J, et al. Post-discharge pharmacist medication

reconciliation: impact on readmission rates and financial savings. J Am Pharm Assoc 2013;53(1):78-84. doi:10.1331/japha.2013.11250.

- 47. Smith M, Giuliano M, Starkowski M. In Connecticut: improving patient medication management in primary care. Health Aff (Millwood) 2011; 30(4):646-54. http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/30/4/646.long. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 48. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Pharmacy Teams Use Telepharmacy To Provide Medication Management to At-Risk Patients in Safety Net Clinics, Leading to Better Outcomes and Lower Utilization and Costs.<u>https://innovations.ahrq.gov/profiles/pharmacy-teams-use-telepharmacy-providemedication-management-risk-patients-safety-net</u>.
- 49. Cavanaugh J, Jones C, Embree G, et al. Implementation Science Workshop: primary care-based multidisciplinary readmission prevention program. J Gen Intern Med 2014;29(5):798-804. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4000330/</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 50. Farrell T, Tomoaia-Cotisel A, Scammon, D, et al. Impact of an integrated transition management program in primary care on hospital readmissions. J Healthc Qual 2015;37(1):81-92.
- 51. White B, Carney P, Flynn J, et al. Reducing hospital readmissions through primary care practice transformation. J Fam Pract 2014;63(2):67-73. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24527477</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 52. Balaban R, Weissman J, Samuel P, et al. Redefining and redesigning hospital discharge to enhance patient care: a randomized controlled study. J Gen Intern Med 2008;23(8):1228-33.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2517968/. Accessed July 14, 2017.

53. Stranges P, Marshall V, Walker P, et al. A multidisciplinary intervention for reducing readmissions among older adults in a patient-centered medical home. Am J Manag Care 2014;21(2):106-13.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25880360. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 54. Magill MK. Primary care practice redesign-successful strategies. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; 2014. <u>https://www.ahrq.gov/professionals/systems/system/delivery-system-initiative/abstract-magill.html</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 55. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Primary Care Physician and Health Coach Teams Improve Outcomes and Reduce Costs for Complex Patients. <u>https://innovations.ahrq.gov/profiles/primary-care-physician-and-health-coach-teams-improve-outcomes-and-reduce-costs-complex</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 56. Blazek N. Primary care bundle aims to reduce ED, hospital readmissions. Clinical Advisor; June 13, 2015.

http://www.clinicaladvisor.com/aanp-2015-annual-meeting/primary-care-bundle-

reduces-ed- readmission/article/420566/. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 57. Takahashi P, Naessens J, Peterson S, et al. Short-term and long-term effectiveness of a post-hospital care transitions program in an older, medically complex population. Healthc (Amst) 2016;4(1):30-5. doi:10.1016/j.hjdsi.2015.06.006.
- 58. Foltz C, Lawrence S, Biery N, et al. Supporting primary care patient-centered medical homes with community care teams: findings from a pilot study. J Clin Outcomes Manag 2014;21(8):352-61.
- 59. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Post-discharge Telephone Followup With Chronic Disease Patients Reduces Hospitalizations, Emergency Department Visits, and Costs.

https://innovations.ahrq.gov/profiles/postdischarge-telephone-followup-chronicdisease-patients-reduces- hospitalizations. Accessed July 14, 2017.

60. Boyd CM, Shadmi E, Conwell LJ, et al. A pilot test of the effect of guided care on the quality of primary care experiences for multimorbid older adults. J Gen Intern Med 2008;23(5):536-42.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2324149/. Accessed July 14, 2017.

61. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Physician-Led Clinics Offer Integrated, Coordinated Care to High-Risk Seniors Under Capitated Contracts, Leading to Strong Performance on Quality Metrics, Low Inpatient Use, and High Patient Satisfaction.

https://innovations.ahrq.gov/profiles/physician-led-clinics-offer- integratedcoordinated-care-high-risk-seniors-under-capitated. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 62. Proctor L. ACO Care Transitions: Coaching, Management, and Coordination. Patient Safety and Quality Healthcare; 2015. <u>https://www.psqh.com/analysis/aco-care-transitions-coaching-management-and-coordination/</u>.Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 63. Rosenberg C, Peele P, Keyser D, et al. Results from a patient-centered medical home pilot at UPMC Health Plan hold lessons for broader adoption of the model. Health Aff (Millwood) 2012;31(11):2423-31.

<u>http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/31/11/2423.long</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017. 64. Schraeder C, Fraser C, Clark I, et al. Evaluation of a primary care nurse case

- management intervention for chronically ill community dwelling older people. J Clin Nurs 2008;17(11c):407-17. PMID: 26327423.
- 65. Jackson C, Trygstad T, DeWalt D, et al. Transitional care cut hospital readmissions for North Carolina Medicaid patients with complex chronic conditions. Health Aff (Millwood) 2013;32(8):1407-15. <u>http://content.healthaffairs.org/content/32/8/1407.long</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 66. Dubard C, Cockerham J, Jackson C. Collaborative accountability for care transitions: the Community Care of North Carolina Transitions Program. N C

Med J 2012;73 (1):34-40.

67. Nurses stepping up to solve primary care challenges. Princeton, NJ: Robert Wood Johnson Foundation; 2012.

http://www.rwjf.org/en/library/articles-and-news/2012/08/nurses-stepping-up-tosolve-primary-care- challenges.html. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 68. Hearld L, Hearld K, Budhwani H. Bridging the gap: the role of the patient-centered medical home in reducing time to follow-up after hospital discharge. J Ambul Care Manage 2016;39(3):209-19.
- 69. Wagner E, Sandhu N, Coleman K, et al. Improving care coordination in primary care. Med Care 2014;52(11 Suppl 4):S33-8.
- 70. Tang N. A primary care physician's ideal transitions of care—where's the evidence? J Hosp Med 2013;8(8):472-7. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23873732. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 71. Jacquin L. A strategic approach to healthcare transformation: transforming the care delivery model across the continuum is a prerequisite to success under value-based payment systems. Healthc Financ Manage 2014 Apr 1;68(4):74-80.
- 72. Maine Quality Counts. Care Transitions Tools & Resources. <u>https://www.mainequalitycounts.org/page/2-</u> <u>947/care-transitions</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 73. DeWalt DA, Thompson KW, Cykert S, et al. Primary care transitions change package: preventing hospital readmissions. (Prepared by North Carolina IMPACT Transitional Care Collaborative, The Cecil G. Sheps Center for Health Services Research, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, under Contract No. 5U18HS020940-02 with the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality). Rockville, MD: AHRQ; August 2013.

https://www.communitycarenc.org/media/related-downloads/primary-care-transitionschange-package.pdf. Accessed July 14, 2017.

74. MacColl Institute for Healthcare Innovation. Reducing care fragmentation: a toolkit for coordinating care. Seattle: Group Health; April 2011.

http://www.improvingchroniccare.org/downloads/reducing_care_fragmentation.pdf.

 Health2 Resources. Core value, community connections: care coordination in the medical home. Washington, DC: Patient-Centered Primary Care Collaborative; 2011.

http://hsc.unm.edu/community/toolkit/docs/carecoordination_pcpcc1.pdf. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 76. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services. Physician Fee Schedule. <u>https://www.cms.gov/medicare/medicare-</u><u>fee-for-service-</u> <u>payment/physicianfeesched/</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 77. Hochman M, Briggs-Malonson M, Wilkes E, et al. Fostering a commitment to quality: best practices in safety-net hospitals. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2016; 27 (1):293-307. PMID: 27763471.

78. American College of Physicians. Primary Care-Hospital Care Team — Model Care Coordination Agreement.

https://www.acponline.org/system/files/documents/clinical_information/high_value_care/cli nician_resources/hv_cc_toolkit/hvcc_project/primary-care-hospitalist-model-carecoordination-agreement.pdf. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 79. Kirschner N, Greenlee M. The patient-centered medical home neighbor: the interface of the patient-centered medical home with specialty and sub-specialty practices. Philadelphia: American College of Physicians; 2010. <u>https://www.acponline.org/system/files/documents/advocacy/current_policy_papers/asse_ts/pcmh_neighbors.pdf</u>. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 80. Donzé JD, Williams MV, Robinson EJ, et al. International validity of the "HOSPITAL" score to predict 30-day potentially avoidable hospital readmissions. JAMA Intern Med 2016;176(4):496-502.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5070968/. Accessed July 14, 2017.

- 81. Holman G, Beasley J, Karsh B, et al. The myth of standardized workflow in primary care. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2015;23 (1):29-37. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5009941/. Accessed July 14, 2017.
- 82. Alvarado C. Beyond the hospital: human factors and ergonomics issues in the ambulatory/outpatient care setting. Proceedings of the Human Factors and Ergonomics Society Annual Meeting 2009;53(11):689-93.